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The F. F. White Block is a three-and-a-half-story, red brick structure which visually

anchors the southwest corner of the courthouse square in Monroe. Only the courthouse
itself rivals it in monumentality. -

A great, steeply sloped hipped roof of copper crowns the pile, which features two
street facades of differing design. The main (north) facade has a large central
pavilion terminating in a stepped gable with stone copings on the third-floor level.
A wide Tudor arch outlined in stone encloses a large oriel window which rests on a
bracketed stone ledge. Gothic tracery decorates the typanum of the arch. Above
this window in the attic is a tiny Gothic lancet,

A smaller version of the central pavilion marks the northwest corner of this facade.
In this gable, projecting bricks emphasize the steps, the Tudor arch is trimmed with
brick and encloses a double window. The rest of the third floor windows are recessed
between brick pilasters, and molded brick panels trim the spandrels under each window.
A wide stone cornice is supported by corbelled bricks and a stone string course marks
the base of the third floor windows. A similar belt course serves as the sill for the
second story windows which are set within flat brick Tudor arches. An octagonal tower
emphasizes the northeast corner of the White Block. Above the third level is a stone
carved with the legend, "F. F. White, 1900." The tower was originally capped by a frame
turret and a cone-shaped roof surmounted by a flagpole, but this was removed in 1950
because it had deteriorated and had become a pigeon haven. The owner would like to
eventually restore the tower. Two small windows deeply recessed within the brick wall
frame the tower at the second level.

Another stepped gable on the southeast corner of the east facade echoes the northwest
gable. Between, the third floor level is lit by a band of five small windows with
molded brick spandrels between brick pilasters. Above in the roof is a shed dormer
sheltering another band of five windows, The south and west facades are functional
in design except for two small stepped gables on the west facade.

The first floor storefront and the interior have been much altered to serve changing
uses, However the owners are currently planning to renovate the first floor store-
fronts in a design which will be more compatible with the existing historic fabric
of the building,
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The F.F. White Block is a visually imposing landmark in downtown Monroe. 1Its
monumentality symbolizes the prosperity and growth’ of Monroe in the late
nineteenth century.

F.F. White was the son of the prominent Monroe lumberman, farmer, and politician,
0.J. White. After attending Beloit College, White joined his father in

the lumber business. On February 16, 1898, White acquired the American House
property. Soon after, he cleared ground and engaged A.D. Conover to draw plans
for a pretentious three-story commerical block.

Conover, a well-known Wisconsin architect, was a civil engineering professor who
practiced architecture with Lew F. Porter from 1886-1889. From 1900 to 1902 and
1911 to 1919, he practiced alone before and after serving as a member of the state
board of control. Conover's best known designs include the 01d Red Gym at the
University of Wisconsin in Madison.

F.F. White, ill with tuberculosis, died May 19, 1900. His family decided to
finish construction of the building, combining resources with H. W. Caradine, a
dentist who also engaged in the construction business. The block was completed

on June 1, 190]. Since then the White Block has been the scene of much commercial
and social activity. The Citizen Bank of Monroe moved into the first floor and
remained there until merging with another local in 1940. A barbership and a
plumbing firm also moved into the first floor. The Smith Lodge and Royal Arch
Chapter of the F. and A. M. occupied the third floor until 1935. Physicians,
attorneys and others occupied offices on the second floor. In 1935, the Monroe
Little Theater rented the Masonic hall on the third floor. Currently a furniture
store and other offices occupy the structure.

When the White Block was built, Victorian commerical buildings ringed the Monroe
courthouse square. Imposing three-story edifices marked several corners. Today
many of the Victorian buildings have been lost to.progress. The White Block is
the last of the monumental commercial structures to remain.,

Because of its monumentality and eclectic design, the White Block embodies the
distinctive characteristics of the late Victorien period of construction. The
carefully-executed brickwork, and the juxtaposition of various stylistic motifs make
the White Block a good example for the people of Monroe of the turn-of-the-century
commercial architecture. ~
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Donation to the City of Monroe, Green County, Wisconsin.
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Downtown Monroe retailers are beginning to suffer from a loss of business to
suburban shopping centers and are considering ways to revitalize the square.
The Women's Club of Monroe is nominating the White Block as part of an effort
to help the businessmen of the courthouse square recognize the architectural
and historic value of their buildings. Partly as a result of this effort the
owner of the White Block is planning to renovate the first floor facade and
hopes to claim the benefits of the Tax Reform Act.

1. Abstract, Ekum Abstractors.
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